IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHNNY L. DUPREE, In His Official Capacity as Mayor of the City of Hattiesburg, Mississippi

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CASE NO.: 2006-CA-01875

CARTER CARROLL, C.E. BAILEY, and KIM BRADLEY

APPELLEES

Appealed from the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi Case No. CI06-0132

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

CHARLES E. LAWRENCE, JR. MB

Attorney for Appellant P. O. Box 1624 Hattiesburg, MS 39403 Telephone (601) 582-4157 E-Mail: <u>celawjr@hotmailcom</u>

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the Appellees lack standing to bring an action to seek a writ of mandamus pursuant to Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code?
- II. Whether the court must construe all the provisions of a statute when interpreting said statute to determine the scope and application of the statute and what is the application of the language in Section 21-8-23(2) that department directors serves "until the appointment and qualification of his successor"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was commenced by the Appellees filing a complaint for a writ of mandamus in the Circuit Court of Forrest County on May 30, 2006. The Appellees sought the issuance of a writ of mandamus against the Appellant to compel the Appellant to re-nominate or resubmit his department directors during his second term of office as mayor of the City of Hattiesburg. Appellees contend that the reappointment of the Appellant's departmental directors is a nondiscretionary duty mandated by Section 21-8-23(2) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended. The Appellant contends he is not required to resubmit his department directors to the council once they have been confirmed, even during a previous term of office, and that said department directors continue to serve in their appointed capacity "until the appointment and qualification of his successor," which the Appellant interprets to mean until he changes department directors.

The matter was scheduled for trial on August 24, 2006. After appearing in court on the scheduled trial date and conferencing with the court, the parties agreed to submit the matter to the court by filing competing motions for summary judgment. Upon the court's consideration of said matter by way of competing summary judgment motions, the court issued a written opinion consisting of it findings of facts and conclusions of law determining that a writ of mandamus was

appropriate on September 29, 2006 and issued its order of mandamus. (R. E. pages) It is from this order of mandamus that the Appellant perfected this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of the case were stipulated to and/or submitted to the Circuit Court as undisputed facts. The facts as submitted by the Appellant were the City of Hattiesburg operated under the Mayor-Council form of government as established pursuant to Section 21-8-1 et seq. of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended. Further, that the complaining party, C. E. Bailey, resigned from his position on the city council effective as of July 19, 2006 and therefore no longer had any authority to act as an elected official for the city and further, that he had sold his residential home on or about April 28, 2006. The Appellees did not state a private interest in the complaint that was separate and different from the general public interest and there had been no resolution or official action adopted by the city council to authorize the filing of the complaint. Finally, the complaint for writ of mandamus was not brought on the complaint of the State of Mississippi filed by the Attorney General or a District Attorney. (R. E. pages 157-158).

The facts as submitted by the Appellees were the mayor is a member of the executive branch of government and the city council is a member of the legislative branch of government and that the city is divided into five (5) wards. The mayor was sued in his official capacity and all the Appellees at the time of the filing of the initial complaint were elected officials of the city council and the Appellant was serving his second term. Further, the Appellant submitted his department directors during his first term of office for confirmation by the city council and each director has remained in office after their initial confirmation and during the mayor's second

term of office and the mayor did not intend to re-nominate his department directors during his second term of office. (R. E. pages 120-122).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant argues and contends that the Appellees lack standing to bring an action and seek a writ of mandamus pursuant to Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code because the code is very specific as to who have standing pursuant to said provision and the Appellees did not meet any of the criteria established thereunder and therefore there complaint should have been dismissed. The Appellant also argues that the Circuit Court in interpreting Section 21-8-23(2) failed to consider all of the provisions of said code section and therefore misinterpreted said section and failed to give it the full intent meant by the legislature which would not require a re-elected mayor to resubmit his returning department directors that were previously approved under his/her prior term of office.

I. Whether the Appellees lack standing to bring an action to seek a writ of mandamus pursuant to Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code?

The Appellant in defending the complaint for writ of mandamus raised as an affirmative defense in his answer to the complaint and by way of his motion for summary judgment the issue of standing. (R. E. pages 22-25). The Appellant argued that the Appellees sought a writ of mandamus pursuant to Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code, but did not meet the requirements of the statute to bring the action and therefore did not have standing to bring said action. (See paragraph A of the prayer of the Complaint). (R. E. page 11). Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code is very specific regarding how an action for writ of mandamus must be

brought, who has the authority to bring such a writ and which court has jurisdiction to hear a complaint for such a writ.

Specifically, Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, reads as follows:

"On the complaint of the state, by its Attorney General or a district attorney, in any matter affecting the public interest, or on the complaint of any private person who is interested, the judgment shall be issued by the circuit court, commanding any inferior tribunal, corporation, board, officer, or person to do or not to do an act the performance or omission of which the law specially enjoins as a duty resulting from and office, trust, or station, where there is not a plain, adequate, and speedy remedy in the ordinary course of law. All procedural aspects of this action shall be governed by the Mississippi Rules of civil Procedure."

A complaint for a writ of mandamus is an action brought against a public official to compel the performance of a duty imposed by law. Because it is an action brought against a public official the law requires that said action must be brought on the complaint of the state, in other words, the State of Mississippi must be the complaining party and it must be brought by the Attorney General or by a district attorney.

The Appellees alleged that they sought to bring their action in their official capacity (and in their individual capacity, (paragraph number VII of the complaint). (R. E. page 8). The Circuit Court found that the Appellees had a duty to confirm directors appointed by the mayor and therefore had "an interest separate from or in excess of that of the general public." (R. E. page 215). The court in coming to this conclusion did not state whether this finding conferred upon the Appellees a private interest or public interest arising out of their official duties. A private interest would be one that is limited to the party seeking to enforce or protect that interest. Since the appointment of directors does not have a direct impact upon the private interest or right of

any individual citizen the Appellees lack standing to seek a writ of mandamus as private citizens and the only interest that the Appellees could have would be a public interest. Since the only interest of the Appellees is derived from a statutory duty to confirm appointment of directors the court should have looked to Section 11-41-1 for the specific authority granted only to the Attorney General or a district attorney to bring such an action.

The Mississippi Supreme Court, on May 18, 2006, approximately twelve (12) days before the Appellees filed their complaint, addressed the issue of standing under Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, in the case of <u>Aldridge v. West</u>, 2005-CA-00960-SCT (Miss. 2006). The court in <u>Aldridge</u>, citing its decision in <u>Board of Education of Forrest</u> <u>County, v. Sigler</u>, 208 So.2d 890, 892 (Miss. 1968) (citing <u>Board of Supervisors of Prentiss</u> <u>County v. Mississippi State Highway Commission</u>, 207 Miss. 839, 42 So. 2d 802 (1949) reiterated that it has established a four-part test to determine if a party is entitled to obtain a writ of mandamus. The essential elements of the four-part test are:

> (1) the petition must be brought by the officers or persons authorized to bring the suit; (2) there must appear a clear right in petitioner to the relief sought; (3) there must exist a legal duty on the part of the defendant to do the thing which the petitioner seeks to compel; and (4) there must be an absence of another remedy at law.

The plaintiffs sought to obtain a writ of mandamus in the <u>Aldridge</u> case as private individuals. The court held that a private person could seek a writ of mandamus "if he can show an interest separate from or in excess of that of the general public." The court in <u>Aldridge</u> further stated, "Plaintiffs clearly did not have standing to pursue a mandamus action under Miss. Code Ann. Section 11-41-1, because they admitted that they did not suffer distinct injury from the other citizens of Natchez." The Appellees in this case has also admitted in their response to

interrogatories, specifically interrogatory number 18 and 19, that they did not suffer a distinct injury from others in the general public.

The Circuit Court examined each of the specific elements required by the Supreme Court as reiterated in the Aldridge decision. The court found that the petition was brought by the officers or persons authorized to bring the suit. (R. e. page 216). The Appellant disputes this finding because said suit was not brought by the Attorney General or by a district attorney. The court also found that there was a clear right in the Appellees for the relief they sought, that right being the right to confirm the appointment of directors. While on its face it appears to be a clear right but upon closer examination that is not a clear right conferred upon the Appellees. It is not a clear right because the very last clause of the last sentence of Section 21-8-23(2) mandates that a director will continue to serve in his/her capacity as director until the appointment and qualification of his successor. This language is very specific that a director continues to hold the position of director until his successor in office has been appointed and qualified. The second element of the four prong test of <u>Aldridge</u> is not so clear in this instance in that the Appellees only have a right to confirm when a successor in office has been nominated. The court in addressing the third element determined that the Appellant had a legal duty under Section 21-8-23(2) to appoint directors. (R. E. page 217). Each of the directors presently serving had been nominated by the mayor and voted upon and confirmed by the council. The Appellant contends and argues that he met that legal duty when his department directors were originally confirmed by the council and therefore that legal duty no longer existed when re-elected to a successive term.

In the case of <u>Board of Education of Forrest County v. Sigler</u>, 208 So.2d 890 (Miss. 1968) a very detailed discussion is presented regarding writs of mandamus. This discussion goes

in depth regarding who has the authority to bring an action seeking such a writ. The court considered the statute that granted the authority to prosecute an application for writ of mandamus. The predecessor to our present statute, found at Section 1109, Mississippi Code 1942 Annotated (1956), reads identical to Section 11-41-1 and is recited entirely at <u>Board of Education of Forrest County v. Sigler</u>, pages 891-892. One such discussion involving the statute is the case of <u>Hancock County v. State Highway Commission</u>, 188 Miss. 158, 193 So. 808 (1940) wherein the Court stated as follows:

"The writ of mandamus is distinct from ordinary suits. It is a prerogative writ issued by the State through such representatives as it may entrust with that power, and under Section 2348 suits involving the public interest are to be brought on the petition of the attorney general or a district attorney. It is true the section authorizes a mandamus to issue for the enforcement of the private right by a person whose private rights entitled him to coerce a mandatory duty, but the State Highway Commission is a public body and its funds to be expended by it are for public purposes, and the dealings in its powers with the public interests and the matters sought to be enforced in the present proceeding represent public interest, both as to the action of the State Highway Commission, and as to the county's right, if any, to reimburse it for its expenditures for a public bridge. 188 Miss. at 162-163, 193 So. at 809.

The Court also held in this case:

"Nothing short of a statute specifically giving right to mandamus would enable a county to sue out a mandamus affecting a public matter, or a matter of public interest. It may be that a county having property or rights or action in it purely private or proprietary capacity might have the same remedy as a private individual would have to coerce the performance of the duty, where no discretion is required or contemplated, that a private individual would have. Mandamus being a prerogative writ to be issued only in extraordinary circumstances and only on the conditions and by the persons authorized by statute to have it issued, it is not available to the appellant in this suit, consequently the county had no standing in the Court, and one of the fundamental principles in invoking a court's jurisdiction is that the

plaintiff or complainant, as the case may be, must show a right in himself to invoke the jurisdiction of the court." Id at 163-164, 193 So. 810.

"This decision was reached despite section 270 of the Code of 1930 (now appearing as section 2955) which provides that a county may sue or be sued in its own name. It appears that, mandamus being an extraordinary remedy, the statute granting the right to petition for such remedy will be construed very strictly." See, <u>Board of Education of Forrest County v. Sigler</u> at pages 892-893.

The Appellees argued that they have standing to bring this action and cite several cases in support of their argument. A close examination of each of the cases relied upon by the Appellees before the Circuit court support the Appellant's position that they do not have standing.

The Appellees cited <u>Fondren v. State Tax Commission</u>, 350 So.2d 1329 (Miss. 1977) in support of their standing argument. The court in <u>Fondren</u> upholds the requirement that a private individual must show that he has an interest "separate from or in excess" of that of the general public to maintain an action under Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code. See, <u>Fondren</u> at page 1332. The court further found that <u>Fondren</u> had specific statutory authority under Section 11-13-11 of the Mississippi Code to bring such a suit. See, <u>Fondren</u> at page 1333. No such statutory authority exists for the Appellees to bring such an action in this matter.

The Appellees also cited <u>Dye v. State</u>, 507 So.2d 332, (Miss. 1987) in their brief as support for their argument that they have standing to bring this action. The central question raise in the case of <u>Dye v. State</u>, is whether the office of Lt. Governor is part of the executive or legislative branch of government. The plaintiffs filed suit as a result of rules being promulgated by the Senate that the Lt. Governor was responsible for enforcing and carrying out those rules. A question of separation of power was raised and whether the Senators bringing the suit had standing to bring such an action. Said action was not brought by the Senators pursuant to Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code but rather they sought to have Article I, Sections 1 and 2 (separation of powers provision) of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 interpreted regarding a delegation or power by Senate Rules upon the Lt. Governor that may have been outside the scope and authority of the Lt. Governor as established by the Constitution of the State of Mississippi. The court in reaching its decision that the Senators had standing to bring their action stated "[w]e refuse to relegate to the Attorney General either the exclusive authority to bring a suit such as this or the discretion whether and how that authority should be exercised." See, <u>Dye v. State</u> at page 338. The court in essence determined that there was no statutory authority that limited that specific type of action to be brought by the Attorney General. The statutory authority relied upon by the Appellees in this case, specifically, Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code, for a writ of mandamus, has limited the authority regarding who may bring an action for writ of mandamus and the Appellees have not been conferred with any such authority.

The Appellees argued that the standing requirement for bringing an action in the State of Mississippi is very liberal, and cited <u>Van Slyke v. The Board of Trustee of State Institutions of Higher Learning</u>, 613 So.2d 872 (Miss. 1993) and <u>Fordice v. Bryan</u>, 651 So.2d 998, (Miss. 1995) in support of their argument. In the case of <u>Van Slyke v. Board of Trustees</u>, the court held that a private citizen have standing to challenge the constitutionality and/or review of government action. The Appellees attempted to make this a constitutional question by arguing that it is a separation of powers question. The fallacy with the Appellees' argument is that the form of government that exists in the City of Hattiesburg is established pursuant to legislative statutes and not by a constitutional mandate. There can be no constitutional question unless the statute, which grants the authority to the plaintiff or Appellant, is called into question as being unconstitutional. The decision in <u>Van Slyke</u> must be read in conjunction with the Supreme Court decisions that addresses a private citizen effort to obtain a writ of mandamus pursuant to Section

11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code. In the case In Re Fordice, 691 So.2d 429 (Miss. 1997) the governor sought a writ of mandamus against an officer within the executive branch of government. The court reviewed and discussed the requirements of Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code and determined that Governor Fordice did not meet the requirements of the statute and therefore did not have standing to bring the action. Specifically, the court held "[t]he Petitioner, suing in his capacity as Governor and Administrator of the Medicaid Division, does not meet the statutory requirements," to seek a writ of mandamus under Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code. See, In Re Fordice at page 433. Governor Fordice as the chief executive officer of the State of Mississippi Code. Therefore, when a writ of mandamus is sought pursuant to Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code the standing requirements are not liberal but are rather very strict.

II. Whether the court must construe all the provisions of a statute when interpreting said statute to determine the scope and application of the statute and what is the application of the language in Section 21-8-23(2) that department directors serves "until the appointment and qualification of his successor"?

This Circuit Court was asked by the Appellees to interpret Section 21-8-23(2) and the Appellant requested that Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code be interpreted. The court has an obligation that "[w]here a statute is unambiguous, the Court must apply the statute according to its plain meaning, refraining from principles of statutory construction." See, <u>OXY USA v.</u> <u>Mississippi State Tax Commission</u>, 757 So. 2d 271, 274 (Miss. 2000). Section 11-41-1 of the Code is very clear with regards to who may seek a writ of mandamus and the Appellees do not meet the requirements of the statute. Further, the Appellees requested that the Circuit Court

engage in statutory construction by mandating that the Appellant must re-submit his departmental directors as nominees for confirmation or rejection during his second term of office and by imposing a time frame during which said nomination shall be made because the statute itself is silent as to when any nominees should be made regardless of whether it is during a first term or successive term of office. The Supreme Court has cautioned and restrained itself from engaging in judicial legislation. See, Fondren v. State Tax Commission, 350 So. 2d 1329 at 1335 (Miss. 1977). The Circuit Court was being asked by the Appellees to engage in judicial legislation first by disregarding and nullifying the last clause of Section 21-8-23(2) which mandates that departmental directors continues to serve in office "until the appointment and qualification of his successor," and secondly to engage in judicial legislation by imposing a time frame for the appointment of departmental directors by newly elected or reelected mayors. If the state legislature had intended for there to be a time frame for the appointment of directors they would have written that requirement in the legislation. The Appellees relied heavily upon language in Attorney General's opinions that were issued to the Appellees and Appellant. Specifically, the Appellees relied upon the language in the attorney generals opinions that in the absence of a time frame being specified in the statute the appointment of department directors must be made within a reasonable time. The Appellees pointed to these opinions and asked the court to give these opinions the authority of law. The Supreme Court has commented upon the weight and authority to be given to Attorney General's opinions. See, Frazier v. State By and Through Pittman, 504 So. 2d 676, 691 (Miss. 1987) wherein the court held,

> "It therefore follows that while the Attorney General's office in advising state agencies as to the law and whether or not a suit should be filed will almost invariably be persuasive, his advice is not necessarily conclusive."

The court also addressed the issue of standing in <u>Frazier</u> and held that the Attorney General is the proper party to institute and manage litigation on behalf of the state because he is the chief legal office for this State and he has this duty by virtue of common law, statute and our constitution especially when the subject matter is determined to be of statewide interest. See, <u>Frazier v. State</u> at page 690. Certainly the interpretation of Section 21-8-23(2) is a matter of statewide interest as it will affect mayoral appointments throughout the State, particularly if the court judicially legislate a time limit for making those appointments.

In the <u>Frazier</u> case the Attorney General raise the issue of standing of whether the State Ethics Commission and/or its members had the authority to initiate litigation against other public servants and the court determined that the Commission had specific authority under Section 25-4-19 of the Mississippi Code to file an action to seek restitution, (<u>Frazier</u> page 692) and further that the Attorney General had the authority to file and prosecute the suit, and his failure to do so did not deprive the Commission of exercising its authority as conferred by statute. (<u>Frazier</u> page 693). The Hattiesburg City Council and/or its members do not have specific statutory authority to seek a writ of mandamus and have not first sought the assistance of the Attorney General by requesting that an action of this nature be pursued on their behalf. See, <u>Frazier v. State</u> at page 691.

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