NO. 2006-CA-01875

JOHNNY L. DUPREE, In His Official Capacity as Mayor of the City of Hattiesburg, Mississippi, **APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

CARTER CARROLL, C. E. BAILEY, and KIM BRADLEY,

**APPELLEES** 

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi Case Number CI 06-0132

# **BRIEF FOR APPELLEES**

S. Wayne Easterling Post Office Box 1471 Hattiesburg, MS 39403-1471 (601) 544-8900

Frank D. Montague, Jr. Montague, Pittman and Varnado Post Office Drawer 1975 Hattiesburg, MS 39403-1975 (601) 544-1234

NO. 2006-CA-01875

JOHNNY L. DUPREE, In His Official Capacity as Mayor of the City of Hattiesburg, Mississippi,

APPELLANT

**VERSUS**

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

### **ARGUMENT**

The plaintiffs believe that as duly-elected council persons of the City of Hattiesburg, they have a statutory duty to consider and either affirm or reject the mayor's appointments of department heads. Since DuPree has testified under oath that he does not intend to submit these nominees to the council during his second term, plaintiffs have filed this lawsuit seeking to compel official action by him. They contend that their status as members of the city council gives them standing to bring this action. Both plaintiffs and defendant agree that the issues involved are ripe for summary judgment on both the issue of standing and on the interpretation of the statute.

# 1. Plaintiffs Contend That They Have Satisfied the Requirement of Standing.

Rule 2 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure supposedly abolished most of the ancient writs, leaving one form of action to be known as a civil action. However, the ancient writ of mandamus is still discussed in modern opinions of this Court. The definition of mandamus as found in Black's Law Dictionary is as follows:

Lat. We command. This is the name of a writ (formerly a high prerogative writ) which issues from a court of superior jurisdiction, and is directed to a private or municipal corporation, or any of its officers, or to an executive, administrative or judicial officer, or to an inferior court, commanding the performance of a particular act therein specified, and belonging to his or their public, official, or ministerial duty, or directing the restoration of the complainant to rights or privileges of which he has been illegally deprived.

In addition to its status as a common law writ, *mandamus* is the subject of Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended:

On the complaint of the state, by its Attorney General or a district attorney, in any matter affecting the public interest, or on the complaint of any private person who is interested, the judgment shall be issued by the circuit court, commanding any inferior tribunal, corporation, board, officer, or person to do or not to do an act the performance or omission of which the law specially enjoins as a duty resulting from an office, trust, or station, where there is not a plain, adequate, and speedy remedy in the ordinary course of law. All procedural aspects of this action shall be governed by the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

Thus, plaintiffs herein are seeking a writ of *mandamus* and other relief including an injunction to compel DuPree to meet his constitutional and statutory obligations and to enable plaintiffs to meet their same obligations.

The defendant contends that the plaintiffs do not have an interest separate from or in excess of that of the general public and, thus, cannot bring an action of *mandamus*. He cites in support thereof several cases including *Aldridge v. West*, 929 So.2d 298 (Miss. 2006); and *Board of Education of Forrest County v. Sigler*, 208 So.2d 809 (Miss. 1968). These and other cases have established a four-part test to determine if a party can bring a writ of *mandamus*:

(1) the petition must be brought by the officers or persons authorized to bring the suit; (2) there must appear a clear right in petitioner to the relief sought; (3) there must exist a legal duty on the part of the defendant to do the thing which the petitioner seeks to compel; and (4) there must be an absence of another remedy at law.

Board of Education of Forrest County, supra.

In Aldridge, supra, a private citizen of Natchez, Mississippi, filed a writ of mandamus against the mayor and board of aldermen claiming that they had improperly re-hired a policeman. The relief requested was that the policeman not be re-hired. The opinion in Aldridge, supra, relied heavily upon language in Jackson County School Board v. Osborn, 605 So.2d 731 (Miss. 1992), which in turn quoted extensively from Board of Education of Forrest County v. Sigler, supra. In Osborn, a private citizen of Jackson County, Mississippi, sued the county school board seeking order compelling the board to recommend that the county board of supervisors create a single member school district. This Court held that Osborn as a private citizen had no interest greater than or separate from that of any other citizen of Jackson County.

The Eighteenth Century founders of this country carefully crafted a government with power separated into three branches. Each branch served as a way of limiting the power of the other branches and of maintaining a series of checks and balances to prevent one branch from assuming absolute power. As inviolate as this principle has become, it is not provided for in the United States Constitution.

Mississippi's first constitution, adopted in 1817, provided for the three traditional branches of government, as did the constitutions adopted in 1832 and 1869. Our most recent constitution, adopted in 1890, actually went one step further than the three previous ones; and the change clearly indicates the importance placed upon separation of governmental powers. The first article of this document, Article 1, § 1, states as follows:

The powers of government of the State of Mississippi shall be divided into three distinct departments, and each of them confided to a separate magistracy, towit: those which are legislative to one, those which are judicial to another, and those which are executive to another.

Article 1, § 2, then severely penalizes any attempt to violate Article 1, § 1, stating:

No person or collection of persons, being one or belonging to one of those departments, shall exercise any power properly belonging to either of the others. The acceptance of an office in either of said departments shall, of itself, and at once, vacate any and all offices held by the person so accepting in either of the other departments.

Thus, it is very apparent that the Mississippi Constitution emphasizes that each of the three branches of government has rights and obligations that cannot be violated by the other branch. Plaintiffs herein are members of the legislative branch of government (Section 21-8-9 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended). Defendant DuPree is a member of the executive branch of government (Section 21-8-15 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended).

Both plaintiffs and DuPree, thus, have separate functions in government. In this case, it is the belief of plaintiffs that they are required as part of their statutory duties to consider and either affirm or reject each nominee for director of a department in city government. Unfortunately, they cannot fulfill their obligation until defendant DuPree places the nominees before the city council. Thus, the refusal of DuPree to bring the names before the city council not only constitutes a breach of his obligation as mayor but also prevents plaintiffs from meeting obligations imposed upon them by Section 21-8-23 of the Mississippi Code. This violates the constitutionally required separation of powers — the executive branch of government through DuPree is encroaching upon the legislative prerogatives of the city council.

It follows, therefore, that DuPree's argument that plaintiffs lack standing must fail. Plaintiffs are the "private person who is interested" to which reference is made in Section 11-41-1 of the Mississippi Code; and, as members of the City Council being prevented from performing their

statutory duty, they have an interest separate from and far in excess of that of the general public. See *Fondren v. State Tax Commission*, 350 So.2d 1329 (Miss. 1977).

In *Dye v. State*, 507 So.2d 332 (Miss. 1987), two members of the Mississippi Senate filed suit in the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi, against the lieutenant governor. Their suit contended that the lieutenant governor, a member of the executive branch of government, was depriving them of certain powers and prerogatives belonging to the legislative branch. This Court stated that any such action clearly had an adverse effect upon the two plaintiffs as senators and that this adverse affect was clearly sufficient to confer standing on the senators to sue.

Mississippi has very liberal standing requirements. See *VanSlyke v. The Board of Trustees* of State Institutions of Higher Learning, 613 So.2d 872 (Miss. 1993); and Fordice v. Bryan, 651 So.2d 998 (Miss. 1995). Thus, it is respectfully submitted that plaintiffs have standing to bring this action.

Defendant's reliance upon *In Re: Fordice*, 691 So.2d 429, is misplaced because the *Fordice* case involved an attempt to bypass the circuit court, unlike this proceeding. In *Fordice*, the petitioner had another remedy available to him. In this case, the parties agree that no remedy other than this action is available to plaintiffs.

# 2. Section 21-8-23(2) of the Mississippi Code Requires Submission of Department Heads to the City Council.

Section 21-8-23 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, is very clear in its requirements. It states that each department within the city *shall* be headed by a director who *shall* be appointed by the mayor and confirmed by an affirmative vote of a majority of the council. It

further states that each director *shall* serve during the term of office of the mayor appointing him. At least two Attorneys General have construed the statute, as do the plaintiffs, adversely to DuPree's contention. The Attorney General has opined that Section 21-8-23(2) of the Mississippi Code clearly provides that department directors are appointed for a term commensurate with the term of the mayor and that any mayor who is re-elected is required to submit the appointees to the city council for confirmation, even if the appointees are the same individuals who have served as department directors during the prior term of office.

The Attorneys General reasoned that Mississippi statutes pertaining to directors of state agencies and appointment thereof by the Governor did not contain similar language to that contained in Section 21-8-23(2). The closest comparison is contained in Section 43-13-107 establishing the position of the Director of the Division of Medicaid. This statute provides that the director is appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of the Senate and that the term of this director is concurrent with the term of the Governor appointing him. Comparison of the two statutes has led the Attorney General to conclude that the legislative intent was to limit the director to the specific term of office of the appointing authority. See Attorney General opinion requested by DuPree dated February 24, 2006, at R. 13-16.

It is, therefore, respectfully submitted that the wording in Section 21-8-23(2) expresses legislative intent that the office of a director in city government is vacant at the expiration of the mayor's term, subject to statutory hold-over authority.

Since no time period for permissive hold-over is specified in the statute, the Attorney General concluded that the appointment must occur within a "reasonable " amount of time. The opinion in the case at bar concludes that a reasonable time has expired inasmuch as a valid resolution of the

City Council has resolved this factual question adversely to the defendant's position. (R. 20, 219-

220.)

In addition to the resolution, DuPree should be estopped from raising this issue because he

has testified that he has no intention of submitting the names of his proposed directors to the City

Council unless required to do so by court order. (R. 67-68, 75, 86.) He has also testified that it will

take him less than five minutes to submit the names if ordered to do so by a court (R 55.) He also

testified that it took him less than thirty days after taking office in 2001 to submit the names of the

vast majority of department heads (R 53.).

The affidavit of Dr. William Hatcher, former chairman of the Department of Political Science

at the University of Southern Mississippi, established as an uncontroverted fact that a reasonable

amount of time has passed for the names to have been submitted. (R. 31.)

Thus, plaintiffs respectfully submit that the only way they can meet their constitutional and

statutory duties in regard to this matter is for this Court to order defendant to submit the names of

department directors for consideration by the City Council.

Respectfully submitted,

S. WAYNE EASTERLING

Of Attorneys for Appellees

FRANK D. MONTAGUE, JR.

Of Attorneys for Appellees

8

## **CERTIFICATE**

A true copy of the foregoing brief for appellees has been mailed, postage prepaid, to the Honorable Robert B. Helfrich, Circuit Court Judge, Post Office Box 309, Hattiesburg, Mississippi 39403-0309; and to the Honorable Charles E. Lawrence, Jr., Post Office Box 1624, Hattiesburg, Mississippi 39403-1624, attorney for appellant, on this day of April, A.D., 2007.

S. Wayne Easterling

S. Wayne Easterling Post Office Box 1471 Hattiesburg, MS 39403-1471 (601) 544-8900

Frank D. Montague, Jr. Montague, Pittman and Varnado Post Office Drawer 1975 Hattiesburg, MS 39403-1975 (601) 544-1234